

University of South-Eastern Norway Faculty of Technology, Natural Sciences and Maritime Sciences

> Master's Thesis Study programme: 4317 **Spring 2019**

# Asbjørn Ørsland Microplastic in wastewater treatment plants in Telemark.



University of South-Eastern Norway Faculty of Technology, Natural sciences and Maritime sciences Department of Natural sciences and Environmental health PO Box 235 NO-3603 Kongsberg, Norway

http://www.usn.no

© 2019 Asbjørn Ørsland

This thesis is worth 60 study points

## Abstract

Microplastics (defined as 5 mm to 1 µm in diameter) has been observed in zooplankton fish and human beings in various studies. The amount of microplastic is an increasing concern worldwide, and one of the sources that contributes to microplastic in the environment is wastewater treatment plants. The aim of this study was to analyse the presence of microplastics in inlet, effluent wastewater and sludge, and to develop an appropriate analysing procedure based on a thorough review of past literature. This study was executed in cooperation with SWECO located at Seljord, where a total of 8 wastewater treatment plants were chosen. Four of these plants carry out biological treatment and these plants were investigated in this thesis.

Sampling was done in the period from June to October 2018. The samples were extracted during the monthly sampling for chemical analysis. The sampling was carried out by staff at the wastewater treatment plants where 38 wastewater samples and 19 sludge samples were taken during this period. Wastewater and sludge sample was sterilised with 70% ethanol, then the wastewater was vacuum filtrated with Whatman GF/C filters. After the sterilisation the sludge was dried before adding Fenton's reagent followed by a flotation with filtered tap water and vacuum filtration. GF/C filters from both samples was then stored in aluminium coated petri dishes after the vacuum filtration and visual observed with digital stereo microscope (Karl Zeiss Discovery V20). Microplastics was detected in all samples in this study with an average of 8544 particles kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (d.w.) for sludge and 13644 microplastic particles/L for inlet and 6255 microplastic particles/L outlet wastewater samples. There seems not to be any relation between income of wastewater (m<sup>3</sup>/d) and the amount of microplastic observed within the samples. Particles from wastewater consisted of fibres (11%), fragments (59%) and beads (30%) and most of the particles were white/transparent and blue. Particles from sludge consisted of fibres/filaments (72%), fragments (23%) and beads (5%), where most observed particles where black fibres. For further research a procedure that includes removal of cellulose would make it easier for visual detection of MP in the samples.

Keywords: Microplastic, Microplastic method, Microplastic in wastewater and sludge.

# Contents

Abstract3					
Foreword7					
1	Introduction				
2	Materials and Methods				
	2.1	Study Area12			
	2.2	Sampling14			
	2.3	Preparatory work14			
	2.4	Wastewater method15			
	2.4.1	Step A vacuum filtration15			
	2.4.2	Step B Analysing filters16			
	2.5	Calculations17			
	2.6	Sludge method, treatment and flotation18			
	2.6.1	Fenton's reagent			
	2.6.2	Sludge step B Tap water flotation18			
	2.6.3	Step C Visual inspections			
	2.7	Criterias19			
	2.8	Contamination control			
3	Res	ults21			
	3.1	Microplastic in wastewater21			
	3.2	Microplastic in sludge26			
	3.3	Microplastic diversity and types28			
4	4 Discussion				
	4.1	Method Development34			
	4.2	Wastewater method and microplastic			
	4.3	Sludge method and microplastic			
	4.4	Types and impacts of microplastics			
5	Conclusion42				
References/bibliography42					
6	Annexes4!				

# Foreword

This Master thesis is carried out from June 2018 to May 2019. This thesis is presented at University of Southeast Norway (USN) with collaboration with the Swedish consultants (SWECO) located at Seljord in Telemark.

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Synne Kleiven for her support and guidance throughout this project and Anita C. Kirkevold, (Vannområdekordinator, Midtre Telemark) for economic support. Secondly, I would like to thank Paul Windt and the co-workers at SWECO for the assistance to enabling the execution of this thesis. Without their support, knowledge and time to carry out the sampling, the completion of this thesis would not be possible. I would also like to thank all laboratory members at the institute of nature health and environment at USN.

I would also like to thank my family for their support and service during my education at Bø in Telemark.

Bø in Telemark - May 2019 Asbjørn Ørsland

# **1** Introduction

Microplastic (MP) is by Peez et al. (2019) defined as particles with a diameter from 5 mm to 1 µm and is a widespread pollutant and widely regarded contaminant of global concern (Coppock et al. 2017). MP is derived from synthetic made polymers and are categorised in two terms based of its origin, primary and secondary MP. Primary MP are industrial produced particles below 5 mm such as pellets, or beads. It is designed to fill different purposes, from personal care products to air blasting for various industries. Secondary MP derives from fragmentation of larger plastic items (above 5 mm) such as paint, tyres or textile (GESAMP, 2016). One of the most commonly used plastic types is polyethylene, often used for packaging since it is a low-cost and a high durable product (Orhan & Büyükgüngör, 2000; GESAMP, 2016). Some of the other often used plastic types are Polyvinyl chloride (PVC), polypropylene (PP) and Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) (Revel et al. 2018). Each type of plastic has different density which means some plastic fragments are floating or sinking dependent on density of the medium.

MPs have been observed within fish (Bråte et al. 2016) and have also been detected in zooplankton. Several researchers have found that zooplankton could have the possibility to ingest MP by mistaking this for food (Setälä et al. 2014; Canniff & Hoang, 2018). To understand the possible effects of the sources or pathways of MPs it is important to have an indication of how much MP enters the environment, and where it goes. Effluent wastewater from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) is suspected to be one of the contributors of MP to the environment. Since wastewater works as a transportation medium for MP through the discharged wastewater, it could enters rivers or lakes (Murphy et al. 2016). The WWTP has a lot of different sources from households, institutions, industries to rainwater run-off from urban places and are likely to receive thousands of litres of wastewater per day.

There are several studies of MP analysis in wastewater and sludge but further research is needed. One of the common problems in these studies is the comparability and the amount of cellulose. Different method has been used to find an optimal procedure to analyse MP. Where it has been used wet peroxide oxidation and use of cellulase enzymes to remove the cellulose (Xiaowei et al. 2018). Another study by Lusher et al. (2017) investigated different protocols for organic matter removal in sludge. Where they combined different removal solution with temperature and exposure time. And showed that Fenton's reagent (30%  $H_2O_2$  and  $Fe^{2+}$ ) to be effective for the removal of organic matter and time-efficiency.

One of the first common descriptions of MP was put forward by Arthur et al. (2009) where they defined MP particles to be less than 5 mm. Since this study came out, several scientific studies have emerged. The main focus ten years ago was of practical matter and the potential ecological effects. A newer study by GESAMP (2016) considered MP size range to be 5 mm to 1 nm, and described what is commonly defined as MP particles. Since, a lower limit for MP size range has not been defined yet, these varying measurements appears confusing. A study by Peez et al. (2019) defines MP particle size to be 5-0.001 mm in diameter which are the definition in this thesis is based. Since the logical term microplastic should stop on the limit of 1 µm before it gets to nanometres (nanoplastic). In a study by Frias et al. (2018) the recommended lower size limit for identifying MP in sediments should be 100  $\mu$ m. When analysing a filter or sample it is increasingly difficult to identify the particles when they are of that size. However, when taking into account the ecological effects it is important to not exclude the MPPs below 100 µm. A study by Canniff & Hoang (2018) on the environmental impact of microbeads below 100 µm showed that Daphnia magna ingested a significant amount of microbeads with a size from 63-75  $\mu$ m. Setälä et al. (2014) demonstrated that microspheres with a size of 10  $\mu$ m was ingested by copepods and larvae. By excluding the small MPPs the ecological impact is difficult to predict and the lack of a visual standard method makes it difficult to compare.

There are three different main treatments that are mostly used in the WWTPs; mechanical, chemical and biological treatments. Some of the biological facilities probably reduces the amount of particle matter in the effluent water. The amount of MP from WWTP has shown to be substantial. Due to very few quantitative studies (Magnusson & Norén, 2014) predicting the outcome of sources as households or industry is difficult to estimate. Even though the majority of MP seems to be stored in the sludge, it still

constitutes a possible source through biosolid in farming and forestry, and it could be transferred to agriculture as fertilizer (Leslie et al. 2017). It is a challenge to extract MP due to the large variation of content of the sludge. Most sample procedures are time consuming and requires some sort of reagents to degrade the organic material as well as a solution for density separation (Sujathan et al. 2017). Due to the lack of standardised methods this study combines available procedures (Murphy et al. 2016; Horton. et al. 2017; Lusher et al. 2017) with some modifications. This master thesis encompasses two aims:

- 1. To analyse the microplastic content of samples from three locations in the sewage treatment process, inlet, outlet and sludge.
- 2. To optimize a procedure enabling analysing the microplastic in the samples from these three locations.

# 2 Materials and Methods

#### Background

**Pre-test** were performed to ensure that the methods were functioning according to plan. One water sample and one sediment sample were taken in Borgjaevju located southsoutheast from USN, Bø in Telemark. The water sample was vacuum filtered based on the procedure developed in Murphy et al. (2016) and the sediment was sieved with pore size of 5-2-1 mm and 63  $\mu$ m before a flotation test with ZnCl<sub>2</sub> was used based on Horton. et al. (2017).

Second test: Sludge was dried at 60°C and used instead of sediment. In the sieving part 5-2-1 mm and 63  $\mu$ m pore size sieves were used. Dry sludge was added into the sieves and the sieving part was left for 1 hour. The sludge was then crushed manually by hand into smaller pieces in each sieve with a metal spoon to be more easily sieved. Then it was transferred to an aluminium pan and each fraction size was transferred into 250 ml beakers for two ZnCl<sub>2</sub> flotation of 2 hours, then vacuum filtered with (Whatman) GF/C filters (Horton. et al. 2017).

Third test, was protocol 1a from Mapping microplastic in sludge described in Lusher et al. (2017) where sludge was dried in 250 ml beaker and added 30% hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) and left for 6 hours in a heat oven with a temperature of 60°C.

Fourth test, was protocol 2 from Mapping microplastic in sludge described in Lusher et al. (2017) where sludge was also dried in 250 ml beaker and added Fenton's reagent (30%  $H_2O_2$  and FeSo<sub>4</sub>) and left in a fume hood in room temperature for 2 hours.

The final methods utilized were based on these three tests mentioned above (including some modifications), and the following three articles; for the wastewater method Murphy et al. (2016), Horton. et al. (2017) and sludge method Lusher et al. (2017). The first modification in the wastewater method was to sterilise sample with 70 % ethanol, and the second modification was adding 7 drops of 30 % Hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) on the filter prior to drying. The first modification in the sludge method was also to sterilise the sample with 70 % ethanol and then evaporate at 60°C before drying. Zinc chloride

flotation was skipped, and GF/C filtered tap water flotation was done. It is important to convey the possibilities of pollution or bias in these methods. Most of today's equipment consist of plastic because of its durability and better performing characteristics. Therefore, some equipment containing plastic has been used during this research, as storing bottles, vinyl gloves and wash bottle. Vinyl gloves was only used during the wastewater analysis. One issue in this research is the air contamination, and a study by Dris et al. (2015) estimated the total atmospheric MP fallout to be from 29 to 280 particles m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>. Therefore, a possibility for contamination during different steps is present. The wastewater samples gathered from location 2 in June, and of relevance to the procedure two of the wastewater samples were analysed in a different way, the total volume of each sample was filtered. A formula was made to calculate the percentage of MP in 100ml of wastewater (annex 4).

### 2.1 Study Area

A total of eight WWTPs are involved in this research and the treatment facilities were divided in two groups based on treatment technologies, biological and mechanical treatment respectively. A fellow student was given the mechanical treatment, and this thesis presents the data from 4 plants with biological treatment. The selection of WWTP for this investigation was performed by Paul Windt at the Swedish Consultants (SWECO) located in Seljord. Four treatment plants were selected; Bø, Søvitt, Seljord and Rauland wastewater treatment facilities. The situation of each location is shown in figure 1.

For the WWTPs involved in this study, at the first step there is located an inlet-sieve from 6 to 3 mm in diameter for the facilities to remove large objects and to prevent large nonorganic material to enter the WWTP. There are some differences between the facilities, Bø has an integrated washing and dewatering step where most of the sand is removed, then it goes through a biological moving bed biofilm reactor (MBBR) treatment followed by a flocculation (binding matter) where sludge and particles are bonded together for a flotation where sludge get separated and stored. Ulefoss and Seljord has a settling stage after the inlet sieve followed by MBBR with a final chemical treatment with sedimentation. And Rauland has a sand trap as a first step where most of the sand is removed followed by a sedimentation stage where it goes to the MBBR treatment with an Actiflo pool. Actiflo pool is a system where micro-sand is used in the flocculation clarification process that performs at a high rate (Benson et al. 2007). MBBR is an advanced technique in the biological process with two separated growth systems of microorganisms to reduce biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD) and nutrients as nitrogen and phosphate (Kawan et al. 2016).



Url: https://kartkatalog.geonorge.no/metadata/norge-i-bilder/norge-i-bilder-wms-ortofoto/dcee8bf4-fdf3-4433-a91b-209c7d9b0b0f Processed with Arcmap and Paint.

Figure 1. The geographical position of the four treatment plants located in southeast Norway. The yellow circles from left to right shows location of Rauland, Seljord, Bø and Ulefoss (Søvitt) respectively.

## 2.2 Sampling

Sampling took place in the five month period from June to October 2018. Staff from each WWTP collected the wastewater samples simultaneously with the monthly sampling for chemical analyses. Collecting the sample was done according to ``*Instruks for prøvetaking på renseanlegg med akkreditert prøvetaking*`` *(SWECO, 2017)*. Sampling stations for the wastewater was in inlet and outlet of the WWTP. In the sampling station representative samples were collected and stored in 15L waterproof drums. Subsamples were taken and poured in metal cans, and stored in a freezer containing a temperature of -18°C. On the same day as the wastewater sampling took place, sludge samples were collected from the sludge storage and frozen. In the sampling period the weather varied from very dry during June to July, with an increase in rainfall mid of July to August, and dry again from August to October. The process of defrosting of the wastewater and the sludge samples began one day prior to the initiation of the laboratory work.

### 2.3 Preparatory work

#### Fenton's reagent solution

30 ml of Fenton's reagent was made by weighing out 0.0667 g of ferrous sulphate (FeSO<sub>4</sub>) which was mixed with 10 ml distilled water in a 50 ml graduated beaker. The concentration of the solution was 6.67 mg /ml<sup>-1</sup> Tagg et al. (2017). 20 ml of 30 % Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) was taken out by a glass pipette (20 ml) and poured into the sample with the ferrous sulphate solution in accordance to Lusher et al. (2017).

#### Glass Petri dish with cotton line

A glass petri dish was prepared with 2 lines of 100 % cotton where the cotton ends was taped to hold the line stretched. The radius from the centre of the dish was 4.8 cm (fig. 2) This was done in order to facilitate an easier read when analysing the data and to know exactly where the counting area was located on the filter.



Figure 2. Preparation of petri dish used for counting MP-particles with cotton line taped to the dish wall. Radius of dish = 4,8 cm.

#### Filtering Tap water by use of a GF/C filter

1L beaker was filled up with tap water and a filtration funnel was prepared with a GF/C filter. The tap water was filtered and stored in a precleaned bottle.

### 2.4 Wastewater method

#### 2.4.1 Step A vacuum filtration

The wastewater sample was shaken for 60 seconds with the lid on. Then the lid was taken off and the sample inside was stirred with a glass rod for 30 seconds until it was homogenised. 100 ml of the homogenous wastewater was poured into a 500 ml measuring cylinder. 200 ml of 70 % ethanol was added to the sample and stored for 15 minutes to sterilise. The sample was mixed in the measuring cylinder by rotating it in circular motions. After the sample was homogenised it was poured into a vacuum filtration unit using GF/C filter. The amount poured into the vacuum filtration unit was measured when the filter clogged. The remaining content in the measuring cylinder was washed with distilled water into the vacuum filtration unit using a new GF/C filter, to get adhered particles from the glass walls. GF/C filters were then stored in petri dishes covered with aluminium foil and named with place, date and sample type. Before analysing the filters, 7 drops of hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$  30 %) was treated to cover the filter area. One drop was centre in the middle and 6 drops around the surface of the filter. Then each filter was stored in a heat oven with a temperature below 60°C till it was dry.

### 2.4.2 Step B Analysing filters

The dried GF/C filter was transferred to the glass petri dish with cotton line. The filter was analysed by using a digital stereo microscope, (Zeiss, Discovery V20). At first the filter was studied by moving over the whole filter (figure 3). This step was done to check the filter for large microplastic (5-3 mm in diameter) and macroplastic particles (above 5 mm in diameter).



Figure 3. Overview of filter from bottom to top, where the overlook started at the left side at the bottom moving to the right and in the direction to the top.

In the next step the 2 diagonally lines were followed by counting 15 randomly chosen areas of each line analysed by a magnification of 91.4x. The area where the diagonally lines crossed, was skipped in the second diagonally line, preventing it from being analysed twice. Then 5 areas in each quadrant were randomly chosen and counted at the same magnification (figure 4). A total of 50 areas were analysed, the particles that could not be categorised was counted and included in the table of categories as unknown.



Figure 4. Petri dish with GF/C filter in the middle and two cotton lines marked as 1 and 2 and four quadrants in between. For each line 15 areas were analysed and 5 random areas were observed in each quadrant.

### 2.5 Calculations

To calculate the total number of MPs at each filter for the wastewater samples, area observed and the total filter area is needed. Area observed (field of view) was measured to be 2.64 mm in length and 2.1 mm in width, the total filter area is calculated based on the filter diameter of 3.5 cm.

Total filter area =  $\pi r^2 = \pi * 1.75 cm^2 = 9.62 cm^2$  or  $962 mm^2$ .

Area of one square: Field of view area =  $L * W = 2.64mm * 2.1mm = 5.54mm^2$ .

Since the volume of the wastewater samples was 100 ml it has to be multiplied with 10 to get particles per litre, the total filter area and the area observed was put in this formula to calculate number of MPs/L:

$$\frac{MP}{1L} = \frac{tot \ filter \ area}{area \ square \ * \ 50} * MP * 10 = \frac{962mm^2}{277mm^2} * MP * 10$$

To get MP/kg dry weight a calculation from gram to kg was needed. This formula was used for converting MP/g to MP/kg dry weight:

$$MP/g(d.w.) * 1000 = MP/kg(d.w.)$$

V: volume of the sample (ml, dl, L)

(d.w.): dry weight of the sample

## 2.6 Sludge method, treatment and flotation

#### 2.6.1 Fenton's reagent

The melted sludge was mixed thoroughly for 1 minute before taking 3 subsamples from the top, middle and bottom with a metal spoon. Each subsample was weighted to be 10 g each in wet weight. Then the subsamples of total 30 g were mixed together for 1 minute and 10 g were transferred to a 250 ml precleaned beaker with aluminium foil as lid. 20 ml of ethanol was added to sterilise the sample for 15 minutes. Then the sample was transferred to a pan of water, placed over a heating plate giving a temperature of 60°C. Temperature was measured every 30 minutes and when the temperature increased cold water was added to decrease the temperature. When the ethanol had evaporated the sample was transferred to a heating oven to dry at a temperature of 60°C. When the sludge had dried, the sample was weighted and the total dry weight was noted. Fenton's reagent was then added to the sample and stored in a fume hood at room temperature for 2-3 hours with aluminium foil as lid. When the sample was in the fume hood it was checked 2-3 times and the beakers was rotated to mix the sample.

#### 2.6.2 Sludge step B Tap water flotation

When the reaction had occurred for 2-3 hours the beakers were transferred to a 1L canteen of stainless steel and placed in the middle of the canteen. GF/C filtered tap water was poured into the beaker to the brim, then it was homogenised for 30 seconds by stirring the solution with a precleaned glass rod and settled for 1 hour. Aluminium covered the beaker and the canteen while it settled. After the sample was settled the top layer was gently poured out into the canteen and the beaker was transferred to an another precleaned canteen. The floated layer was then vacuum filtrated using 3 filters, and particles adhered to the canteen were rinsed with a wash bottle into the vacuum funnel. The middle layer of the tap water flotation was gently poured into the canteen, and then poured into the vacuum filtration unit and filtered using 2 filters. The adhered particles to the canteen were rinsed into the filtration unit with a wash bottle. The remaining bottom layer was then mixed by rotating the beaker and then poured into the funnel, 1 filter was used for the bottom layer.

### 2.6.3 Step C Visual inspections

Each filter was inspected for a minimum of 5 to 15 minutes using a digital stereo microscope (Karl Zeiss Discovery V20). A quick overlook of the filter was done with a magnification of 7.6x to 11.5x. Then the filter was studied using a magnification range of 11.5x to 150x by moving from the bottom left to right described above in figure 3. The particles that were not possible to categorise were counted and noted in the table of categories as unknown.

## 2.7 Criterias

The criterias used for categorising microplastic particles (MPP) were based on two articles namely Nor & Obbard (2014) and Horton. et al. (2017). Basic criteria (1) originated from Nor & Obbard (2014) but since it had uncertainties about including possible non-plastic particles, the study by Horton. et al. (2017) made a second consideration to exclude possible non-plastic particles. Table of categories is based on Hidalgo-Ruz et al. (2012) with the type, shape and colour.

- (1) The analysed MP needed to be confirmed by these criteria: (Nor & Obbard, 2014):
- 1- No cellular or organic structures
- 2- Filaments and fibres should be equally thick through their entire length
- 3- Fibres and filaments or particles should not be segmented
- 4- The particle should have an unnaturally shape
- (2) To be considered as MP the particles had to fulfil at least two of the following criterias: (Horton. et al. 2017):
- 1- Unnaturally coloured compared to the majority of the sample
- 2- Unnaturally homogenously coloured material or structure
- 3- Unnaturally coat of colour
- 4- Shiny/glassy
- 5- Flexible/ elastic can be compressed without being brittle
- 6- Filaments/fibres remains intact with a poke with a tweeze/needle

## 2.8 Contamination control

A lot of factors could contaminate the samples and result in overestimation of the number of MPs in the samples. Steps were taken to prevent and quantify the possible contaminations:

- 1- All equipment were pre-cleaned three times with distilled water and ethanol.
- 2- All surfaces involved with the laboratory work was wiped down with 70 % ethanol three times according to Murphy et al. (2016).
- 3- Two clean GF/C filters was placed in two petri dishes to be left open for the duration of the laboratory work to collect any atmospheric microplastic that may be present. One of the filters was placed in the right corner of the fume hood where the filtration took place and the second one in the working area.
- 4- Tap water were vacuum filtered through a GF/C filter and stored in a precleaned bottle.
- 5- Work clothes and lab coat of cotton was used during the laboratory work.
- 6- All equipment and beakers were covered with aluminium foil to prevent air contamination.

# 3 Results

Microplastic was observed in all samples from the four WWTPs. An average of 8544 particles kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (d.w.) were calculated for the sludge samples. MPPs from the sludge consisted of filaments (72 %), fragments (23 %) and beads (5 %). The average amount of MPPs/L inlet wastewater was 13644 particles and 6255 MPPs/L in outlet water of the wastewater treatment plants. The MPs in the wastewater sample consisted of filaments (11 %), fragments (59 %) and beads (30 %). A total of 12 filters was left for the air contamination control, and a total of 130 particles were detected. In the sludge process 12 filters were left for air control and a total of 17 particles were registered.

# 3.1 Microplastic in wastewater

The average of MPP in inlet and outlet wastewater samples for each treatment plant is shown in figure 5. Location 4 has the highest observed inlet (19937 MP/L) and outlet (9257 MP/L) followed by location 1 as the second highest observed location of inlet (18304MP/L) and outlet (7455MP/L). Location 2 and 3 had the lowest observed inlet and outlet samples in this investigation. In all locations the amount of MP observed was higher in inlet than the outlet samples, and the overall average showed 54% reduction of MP.



Figure 5. Average amount of MP/L in inlet and outlet samples of four treatment plants.

**Location 1** has the highest observed inlet sample (25962MP/L) in July and shows a decreasing trend from July to October, and has its lowest observation in October (10989MP/L). For the outlet the highest observed MP content was in July (13432MP/L) and the lowest observation in September (2325MP/L) (fig. 6a). The amount of inlet wastewater in 24 hours (m<sup>3</sup>/d) varied through the period, in which September had the highest amount (912m<sup>3</sup>/d) of wastewater and October the lowest (325m<sup>3</sup>/d) (fig. 6b).



Figure 6. a) Number of MP/L of wastewater in the period from June to October 2018 in location 1. Blue line: inlet sample, green line: outlet. b) Variation in amount of inlet wastewater  $(m^3/d)$  during the period from June to October 2018 in location 1.

**Location 2** is one of the lowest observed WWTP of this investigation it shows also a decreasing inlet trend from June (9857MP/L) to October (7323MP/L) (fig. 7a). Highest observed inlet month was July (13050MP/L) from the period. While a decreasing trend is also shown in outlet with highest observation from July (7462MP/L) and lowest August (2603MP/L). For m<sup>3</sup>/d a small variation between the months was observed with the highest inflow in September (614m<sup>3</sup>/d) (fig. 7b).



Figure 7. a) Number of MP/L of wastewater in the period from June to October 2018 in location 2. Blue line: inlet sample, green line: outlet. b) Variation in amount of inlet wastewater  $(m^3/d)$  during the period from June to October 2018 in location 2.

**Location 3** was the lowest observed location without July in the period of this investigation. But inlet shows an increasing trend line from June (2360MP/L) to September (8121MP/L) and then decreasing to October (5171MP/L). While outlet is also increasing from June (1423MP/L) to September (5345MP/L) and decreasing to October (4616MP/L) (fig. 8a). Wastewater m<sup>3</sup>/d in the period increased from June (381m<sup>3</sup>/d) to September (1077m<sup>3</sup>/d) and decreased to October (727m<sup>3</sup>/d) (fig. 8b).



Figure 8. a) Number of MP/L of wastewater in the period from June to October 2018 in location 3. Black line: inlet sample, purple line: outlet. b) Variation in amount of inlet wastewater  $(m^3/d)$  during the period from June to October 2018 in location 3.

**Location 4** is the highest observed investigation area with highest inlet quantity. And shows a decreasing trend of the period in inlet and outlet, shown in figure 9a. Highest observed month in inlet was August (24747 MP/L) to lowest October (14855 MP/L). In outlet the highest observed month was June (16555 MP/L) to lowest October (6490 MP/L). Inflow of m<sup>3</sup>/d wastewater increased from June (949m<sup>3</sup>/d) to July (1132m<sup>3</sup>/d) and decreased during the period to October (978m<sup>3</sup>/d) (fig. 9b).



Figure 9. a) Number of MP/L of wastewater in the period from June to October 2018 in location 4. Blue line: inlet sample, green line: outlet. b) Variation in amount of inlet wastewater  $(m^3/d)$  during the period from June to October 2018 in location 4.

## 3.2 Microplastic in sludge

The dry weight (d.w.) of the sludge differed between all subsamples. Highest % (d.w.) 10 g wet weight (w.w.) was 51 % from location 2 in August, and the lowest percentage of dry weight was 15 % from location 1 in June (fig. 10). The average dry weight for all locations was 24 % /10 g (w.w.). The average percentage of dry material in the subsamples from location 2 had the highest average (28 %). The average of wet and dry weights is shown in table 1 for each location, the differences in content of dry substance was 7%.



*Figure 10. % dry matter of 10 g (w.w.) in the period of June to October, without location 3 in July.* 

Table 1. Average % dry weight (d.w.) of wet weight (w.w.) for each location.

Average	Wet weight	Dry weight	% of (d.w.) in (w.w)
Location 1	10,01 g	2,09 g	21 %
Location 2	10,01 g	2,80 g	28 %
Location 3	10,00 g	2,36 g	24 %
Location 4	10,01 g	2,41 g	24 %

The average of MP kg/d.w. in sludge varied during the season for each location (fig. 11). Location 4 is the location with highest quantity of MP (10370MP/kg d.w.), followed by location 1 with the second highest average quantity (8255MP/kg d.w.).



Figure 11. Average amount of MP/kg (d.w.) in sludge for each wastewater plants 2018.

Variation in types of MP was observed between the sludge samples. The majority of MP particles that was observed was fibres and the size was mostly below 1 mm. There was no MP observed larger than 1 mm in the sludge samples. Two of the highest amounts of MP calculated was 16883MP/kg d.w. and 16444MP/kg d.w. from location 1 and 4 in June (fig. 12).



Figure 12. Calculated amount of MP/kg (d.w.) in sludge of the period of June to October for each wastewater plants 2018.

## 3.3 Microplastic diversity and types

The majority of MPs observed in this investigation had a size below 1 mm. Microplastic groups detected was fibres, beads and fragments. In wastewater samples fibres had the lowest amount of 11 % of the total quantity and the beads had a total of 30% of the total quantity counted. The major quantity (80%) of these beads was observed in the effluent wastewater samples. The largest amount of MPs in the wastewater was the fragments that made up 59% of the total quantity (fig. 13). The amount of particles that couldn't be categorised was 778 particles that was marked as unknown.



Figure 13. Total observed microplastic particle quantities and composition of the three types beads, fragments fibres/filaments.

In the sludge samples, fibres were the most observed (72 % of total observations) with black fibres as the dominant type. Fragment was the second most observed type after fibres, (23 %) where the majority was transparent fragments. The beads (5 %) of the total observed MPs was dominated by irregular white and transparent particles (fig. 14).



Figure 14. Total observed number of microplastic particles and categorisation into different types in the sludge samples.

The MP observed (of each group) had different structure and colour. The most common type of filaments were black and flat throughout their whole length. White transparent filaments had a helix and a cylindrical shape. The most colourful filaments had a round cylindrical shape and were transparent (fig. 15).



Figure 15. Different types and colour of filaments observed in inlet, effluent and sludge. (A) transparent helix shaped filament, (B) red filament, (C) yellow cylindrical shaped filament, (D) green cylindrical filament, (E) blue cylindrical filament, (F) orange filament. Photo: Asbjørn Ørsland.

Three main types of fragments were observed, granular, smooth shiny, and multicoloured. Red fragments differed also in surface structure, the granular form shown in figure 16A. The major fraction of the coloured fragments were the blue ones, some with granular surface and some with smooth surface (fig. 16B). Green fragments had a similar structure as the red fragments (fig.16C). Other types of fragments that was observed was multicoloured (fig. 16D), and transparent ones with black spots.



Figure 16. Different coloured fragments observed during the investigation, (A) red granular fragment, (B) blue shiny transparent fragment, (C) green granular fragment,
(D) multicoloured fragment. Photo: Asbjørn Ørsland.

The white transparent fragments observed had different structure, some fragments were just like a flake with sharp edges and very transparent (fig. 17A). Some fragments had scrubbed worn and bended edges (fig. 17B). Other had a combination of rolled and sharp edges with a waveshape surface (fig. 17C).



Figure 17. Three different shiny transparent fragments, (A) flat transparent with sharp edges, (B) oval shaped with worn edges bending, (C) waveshape and sharp rolled bending edges. Photo: Asbjørn Ørsland.

There were two different structural types of beads observed in this investigation (fig. 18A) one with irregular shape oval and clumpy form shown in figure 18B. And the most often observed bead was circular white transparent form (fig. 18C).



Figure 18. The main type of beads observed in this investigation, (A) to the left and right 2 circular shiny beads, in the middle 2 beads bonded together. (B) irregular transparent shaped bead. (C) round circular transparent shaped bead. Photo: Asbjørn Ørsland.

# **4** Discussion

### 4.1 Method Development

The main priority of this thesis was to investigate the amount of MP in 4 WWTPs at three locations: Inlet, effluent and sludge. With the existing variety in research and methods it may attribute to the difficulty of comparison with other results (Hermsen et al. 2018). One project entitled ``*BASEMAN*`` introduced a standardised protocol where the main focus was on MP in marine sediment (Frias et al. 2018). However, since the main focus has been on water and sediment samples, no standard methods for sludge has been recommended. Since sludge has different composition from sediment, different treatments need to be combined. A study by the Norwegian institute of Water research (NIVA) (Lusher et al. 2017) is the closest to a standard sludge protocol that exists.

Before starting with the wastewater, a pre-test with a water sample was executed. Granules from a cosmetic product was added to the water sample to observe the separation by the GF/C filter. Because of the high amount of granules added, it clogged after a short period. Most of the granules was observed on the GF/C filter, but there was also observed granules in the filtered solution. This means that some of the granules went through the filter, mostly because the vacuum pressure was too high. Because of this finding a second filtration was included in the procedure. When the second filtration was done some GF/C filters was analysed and no visible particles was observed, therefore this step was excluded to save time.

For safety reasons it was decided to sterilise the samples prior to performing the lab work, even though hydrogen peroxide and Fenton's Reagent is stated as basic disinfectant (Yoo, 2018). 70 % ethanol was used to sterilise the sludge and according to Rutala (1996) it should be sufficient enough to inactivate HIV-1 and hepatitis B virus. This decision was implemented for laboratory-safety reasons before the basic disinfectant was added.

The intention was to use a sediment method for sludge based on Horton. et al. (2017) but it proved to be difficult to sieve the organic material since major amounts of the sample contained cellulose. The sample was dry which made it very compact and had to

be manually crushed through the sieves by a metal spoon after a period of sieving. The possibility for the MP to either get stuck between the pores or fragmented was an issue. This could result in overestimation by fragmentation of MPPs combined with open air contamination. Moreover, another issue was of underestimation because particles could get stuck in the pores of the sieves. New methods were considered since the sludge samples was very complex, further degradation was needed to be able to observe the MP on the GF/C filters.

A study by Lusher et al. (2017) demonstrated various protocols for sludge which presented two possible methods for this thesis. The first protocol was using 30 % Hydrogen Peroxide at 60-70°C for 6 hours to degrade the sludge. This method was very time consuming therefore, a second protocol was tested in room temperature and the reaction took only 2-3 hours. Fenton's reagent was used and appeared to be more efficient with time and to degrade organic materials.

A test with Fenton's reagent was done to let the reaction occur for a longer period. It seemed to degrade more organic materials but a pressing problem was the reaction still occurred during the flotation process. One possibility could be that the reaction produced gas within the organic material that made it to float after a period. It was then decided to use filtered tap water as first flotation to dissolute and slow down the reaction. A pretest was performed with biogas processed-sludge and worked very well with Fenton's reagent. However, with different sludge samples from the 4 locations, it did not work as well as the first time. Due to the high amount of cellulose in the sludge sample it still floated in the filtered tap water, so ZnCl<sub>2</sub> solution was excluded. Even with this problem, Fenton's reagent showed its efficiency on the other organic material, and it was included in the method. A study by Hurley et al. (2018) exposed no changes in structure or degradation of MP by this method. Moreover, it functioned as a disinfectant as well (Selvakumar et al. 2009), with the reaction of ferrous sulphate (FeSo<sub>4</sub>), forming hydroxyl radicals (°OH) and this ran as a high-level disinfectant (Yoo 2018). Furthermore, the study of Tagg et al. (2017) showed Fenton's reagent to be an efficient reagent. Without harming microplastic by changing chemistry or size, and with a concentration of 6,67mg ml<sup>-1</sup> it provided good balance between the reaction and time-efficiency.

The problem occurring in the flotation step could have been prevented by washing the sample after the Fenton's reagent had occurred as Frias et al. (2018) recommends for the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. But the subsample of sludge was stored in 250 ml graduated beakers to prevent the sample to be exposed to air contamination when transferred to different compartment. If the subsamples were washed after the Fenton's reagent it would be more vulnerable for contamination. An issue that was not mentioned by Lusher et al. (2017) or by Tagg et al. (2017) of the Fenton's reagent was the pH value. It seemed that the pH had an impact of how efficient the reaction occurred, and if this was thought about earlier in the method development, the flotation step might have been more efficient than it turned out to be. However, even though the pH was not measured the reagent worked very well. In the control filters for sludge, less particles on the GF/C filters than in the wastewater was observed. One of the possibilities could be the cleaning stage, as the floor was more thoroughly cleaned the second time prior to the laboratory work of sludge. One could suspect that this may have had an influence on why there is less particles from the air contamination control. A study during workdays in classrooms found the highest number of atmospheric particles to be during and after human activity (Fischer et al. 2015). Under the circumstance during the laboratory work the activity around the samples seems to be one of the contributors for air contamination.

Related to the most optimal type of method to analyse MP in sludge the Fenton's reagent worked very well with organic matter that had minor compounds of cellulose. For further method optimization, there is a possibility to use Schweitzer reagent to separate cellulose from the sludge. A recently study by Gupta et al. (2018) shows a method based on Schweitzer reagent to recover cellulose from sludge and wastewater. The Schweitzer reagent consist of cupric hydroxide (CuOH<sub>2</sub>) and ammonium hydroxide (NH<sub>4</sub>OH). It was prepared in the study by adding 5.5 g of CuOH<sub>2</sub> to 1 litre of NH<sub>4</sub>OH with a concentration of 28 to 29 percent. The study concluded that Schweitzer reagent was found to be a rough and reliable method to recover cellulose, in this case to remove it.
#### 4.2 Wastewater method and microplastic

More MPPs were observed in the inlet wastewater samples than outlet, highest amounts of MPs observed was in location 4 with an average of 19937 MP/L for the whole period. Location 4 has also the highest amount (9257MP/L) in the outlet for the period. It seems to be lower amounts of MPs leaving the wastewater plants than entering. The MP amount observed at each location does not seem to match with the amount of wastewater (m<sup>3</sup>/d) passing through, except for location 3. The MPs observed in this location seems to match with the income of wastewater (m<sup>3</sup>/d). The sample from July was not collected for this location and it could have given different results if it was sampled. Location 3 had the lowest inlet average (5319MP/L) and also the lowest (2360MP/L) observed inlet-sample of MP through this investigation.

The amount of particles observed in the control filters demonstrated some variations with more particles observed in the laboratory work of wastewater than the sludge. One of the possible sources of contamination could be the floor since it was washed one time before the lab work. A study of atmospheric particles indicated that indoor concentrations of particles could be between 3 and 15 particles/m3. It was suggested that MPs was mainly resuspended from the floor due to human activity and movement (Gasperi et al. 2015).

The reason for the high amount of MP in the outlet samples could be the number of beads observed. These beads were detected in all locations and constituted up to 80 % of the numbers of beads, and was not observed in inlet wastewater. One of the possible reasons for these beads to be more frequently observed in the outlet sample, could be that the cellulose in the inlet samples was located above the beads and therefore they were not observed. It could also be from the treatment process itself where polymer is added to bind the sludge together. No further investigation was done. In this topic particles detected by the overview was unfortunately added to the total observations instead of dividing it in 2 categories. Through the first step of analysing, the quick overlook was not separated from the counting of the 50 square area. That resulted in an overestimation between 100 and 650 MPPs/L for each GF/C filter.

The main problem when observing was the quantity of cellulose in inlet wastewater samples. Hydrogen peroxide was tested and worked well to degrade some organic materials but not everything. The reason could be the amount of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and time on each filter, the recommended time by Frias et al. (2018) is that the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> should work for 18 h in a fume hood. In my analyses 7 drops were used and stored in 60°C till GF/C filters were dry. The combination of 60°C with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> could have evaporated the solution faster resulting in less reaction time. This problem occurred mainly in the inlet sample since the sludge was treated after the biological process and less cellulose was visible on the outlet filters. Particles defined as MP based on the criteria was only visually observed and could be observed differently between individuals. Each specific type of MP observed should have been analysed by Fourier-transformed infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) to be sure that it was MP. A combination of photos and FT-IR would make it easier for further investigation to recognise which type of plastic is observed.

#### 4.3 Sludge method and microplastic

Location 4 has the highest average number of MPs/kg d.w. observed (10370 MP/kg d.w.) followed by location 1 (8255 MP/kg d.w.). There is a greater difference between the lowest and highest observation of wastewater than sludge, one of the reasons could be that the visual method in sludge was done differently than the wastewater. The high composition of cellulose could make the MP to be located underneath the sample on the GF/C filters. Since the subsample was a small portion of the total sample, more samples should be investigated to give a more precise amount of MP/kg (d.w.). Difference in the dry weight varied trough the period from the lowest measured for location 1 in June (1,54 g/d.w.) to the highest from location 2 in August (5,06 g/d.w.). The sludge sample from location 2 in August was the only sample with heavy quantity of dry material. Without this sample, the differences of dry weight between each sample was 1,54 to 2,58g (d.w.). Since cellulose is a lightweight organic material, and the sample from August Location 2 displays more heavier compounds. The calculation gets a lower amount of MP/kg (d.w.) than it would appear if the compounds was lightweight.

The average of sludge in this investigation was 8544 MP particles kg<sup>-1</sup> (d.w.) with the observed range from 4762 to 16883 MP particles kg<sup>-1</sup> (d.w.) from location 1 in July and June. The study by Lusher et al. (2017) with a range from 1701 to 19 837 particles kg<sup>-1</sup> (d.w.), indicates a larger variation in numbers of particles than in my investigation. One of the reasons could be that there are larger WWTPs involved in the study with different sampling methods and more variety in industry and sources.

Comparing the different visual methods between wastewater and the sludge, the visual method used on sludge seemed to be more efficient and reliable. By using a certain amount of time instead of looking through 50 areas makes this method less time consuming. The risk of counting particles twice is less in the visual method of sludge. Since no detailed description of the visual step on the filter has been recommended for MP identification, it is important to have a standard for further research so different studies could be comparable.

#### 4.4 Types and impacts of microplastics

Three main types of MPs were observed during this investigation, beads fragments and filaments. The major type of MP observed was fragments, but there are still some uncertainties about the classification that needs further research. The study by Murphy et al. (2016) presented some MPPs to have the possibility to be brittle, therefore a poke with a needle is an uncertain classification criterion. One other issue encountered, was some particles classified as blue fragment with a size below 50µm. These fragments could have been blue-pigment on cellulose but since it followed the criterias it was classified as MP. A study of Norwegian lakes by Lusher et al. (2018) observed more MPs close to urban locations such as industries and municipal WWTP and the most observed type of MP was blue fragments. Blue fragments were most observed within the fragment types in this investigation, one of the reasons could be that it is easily detected on a white background.

Fibres was the MP type that was less observed in the wastewater samples mainly because most of the transparent fibres was difficult to detect between the cellulose on the filter. In the sludge sample the black coloured fibres was most observed due to the differences in colour, that made these types more easily to detect. The main types of beads observed in this investigation was irregular and circular shaped and the majority was observed in outlet. It seems that the irregular shaped beads could have been concentrated in the sludge since some of the same beads was observed in the sludge samples.

To not damage the MPs it was based on past studies, chosen to use temperatures below 60°C. A study by Munno et al. (2018) performed certain tests with different reagents and MPs. It was observed that at temperatures above 60°C, certain beads from cosmetics product melted. They recommended that methods involving temperatures higher than 60°C should be revised. Since the Fenton's reagent have an exothermic reaction it produces heat but the study by Tagg et al. (2017) showed no degradation of MPPs.

## **5** Conclusion

MPPs were observed in all the samples in this study. The total average MP observed in inlet, outlet and sludge was 13232 MP/L, 6150 MP/L and 8544 particles kg-1 (d.w.). The types of microplastic observed were beads, fragments and filaments where fragments were the major type followed by beads. During the visual steps, it was difficult to observe the filaments in the samples due to the amount of cellulose. Fenton's reagent worked very well with degrading organic material except of the cellulose within the sludge. More MP was observed in inlet wastewater than the outlet wastewater samples and more MP got stored in the sludge than was passing through with the outlet. The difference of MPs quantity varied more from lowest to highest in the wastewater samples than the sludge. And the amount of m<sup>3</sup> wastewater does not seem to be related with the amount of MPs observed. The visual method for sludge was more suitable for detecting MP since it was less time consuming and showed less uncertainties of overestimation.

As the MP have become an environmental issue affecting biological life living in the aquatic environments, the results of this thesis provides useful and timely indications of how much MP that is released through the WWTP. The MP results demonstrated in this thesis findings has to be considered particularly for the sustainable use of sludge in the agriculture and consider the suitability of the use of sludge for this purpose. A useful contribution put forward and demonstrated in this thesis, is a clarification of the methodology used in studies of MPs. This thesis has highlighted procedures and methods that worked and did not work, based on the composition of samples and the contamination sources. As an example, 70% ethanol did not seem to have any impact of MP trough this investigation.

Overall, this thesis provides a fruitful step in the study of MPs in WWTPs and further studies such as investigating the removal of cellulose with the Schweizer reagent and how it effects the sludge on MPPs should be further investigated. The standard manual of description of MP types and structure of the most commonly observed MP highlighted in this master thesis would be helpful for further research. By combining the manual description and a standard protocol for the visual step, future studies would be more comparable.

# **References/bibliography**

- Arthur, C., Baker, J. & Bamford, H. (2009). Proceedings of the International Research Workshop on the Occurrence, Effects and Fate of Microplastic Marine Debris. *NOAA Technical Memorandum*. NOS-OR&R-30: 1-49.
- Benson, K. A., Casey, J. D., Smock, M. E., Gurnari, L., Robinson, C. G. & Perri, J. S. (2007). *The use of sand-ballasted settling technology to improve water treatment results*. 4:156-166.
- Bråte, I. L. N., Eidsvoll, D. P., Steindal, C. C. & Thomas. K. V. (2016). Plastic ingestion by Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) from the Norwegian coast, *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 112: 105-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.08.034
- Canniff, P. M. & Hoang, T. C. (2018). Microplastic ingestion by Daphnia magna and its enhancement on algal growth, *Science of The Total Environment*, 633: 500-507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.176</u>
- Coppock, R. L., Cole, M., Lindeque, P. K., Queiros, A. M. & T. S. Galloway. (2017). A small-scale, portable method for extracting microplastics from marine sediments, *Environmental Pollution*, 230: 829-837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.07.017
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Rocher, R., Mohamed, S. & Tassin. B. (2015). Microplastic contamination in an urban area: A case study in Greater Paris, *Environmental Chemistry*, 12(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/EN14167</u>
- Fischer, A., Ljungstrom, E., Hagerhed Engman, L. & Langer. S. (2015). Ventilation strategies and indoor particulate matter in a classroom, *Indoor Air*, 25: 168-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12133</u>
- Frias et al., (2018). Standardised protocol for monitoring microplastics in sediments. JPI-Oceans BASEMAN project. URL: <u>http://www.jpioceans.eu/baseman/main-page</u>
- Gasperi, J., Dris, R., Mirande-Bret, C., Mandin, C., Langlois, V., & Tassin. B. (2015, September). *First overview of microplastics in indoor and outdoor air*.
   Conference: 15<sup>th</sup> EuCheMS International Conference on Chemistry and the Environment, Greater Paris.
- GESAMP (2016). Sources, fate and effects of microplastics in the marine environment: part two of a global assessment. (IMO report No. 93) URL: www.gesamp.org/publications/microplastics-in-the-marine-environment-part-2
- Gupta, M., Ho, D., Santoro, D., Torfs, E., Doucet, J., Vanrolleghem, P. A. & Nakhla. G. (2018). Experimental assessment and validation of quantification methods for cellulose content in municipal wastewater and sludge, *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 25: 16743-16753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1807-7</u>
- Hermsen, E., Mintenig, S. M., Besseling, E. & Koelmans, A. A. (2018). Quality Criteria for the Analysis of Microplastic in Biota Samples: A Critical Review, *Environmental science & technology*, 52: 10230-10240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01611</u>
- Hidalgo-Ruz, V., Gutow, I., Thompson, R. C. & Thiel, M. (2012).Microplastics in the Marine Environment: A Review of the Methods Used for Identification and Quantification, *Environmental science & technology*, 46 (6): 3060-3075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es2031505</u>

- Horton., A. A., Svendsen, C., Williams. R. j., Spurgeon. D. J. & Lahive. E. (2017). Large microplastic particles in sediments of tributaries of the River Thames, UK Abundance, sources and methods for effective quantification, *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 114: 218-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.004</u>
- Hurley, R., Lusher, A., Olsen, M. & Nizzetto, L. (2018). Validation of a Method for Extracting Microplastics from Complex, Organic-Rich, Environmental Matrices, Environmental science & technology, 52(13): 7409-7417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01517</u>
- Kawan, J. A., Hasan, H. A., Suja, F., Jaafar, O. & Abd-Rahman, R. (2016). A review on sewage treatment and polishing using moving bed bioreactor (Mbbr). Journal of Engineering Science and Technology, Vol. 11, No. 8: 1098 1120. URL: <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/308138755">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/308138755</a> A review on sewage t reatment and polishing using moving bed bioreactor Mbbr
- Leslie, H. A., Brandsma, S. H., Van Velzen, M. J. & Vethaak, A. D. (2017). Microplastics en route: Field measurements in the Dutch river delta and Amsterdam canals, wastewater treatment plants, North Sea sediments and biota', *Environ International*, 101: 133-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.01.018</u>
- Lusher, A., Buenaaventura, N. T., Eidsvoll, D. P., Thrane, JE., Økelsrud, A. & Jartun, M. / NIVA. (2018). Freshwater microplastics in Norway: A first look at sediment, biota and historical plankton samples from Lake Mjøsa and Lake Femunden. (NIVA Report/7326-2018) URL: <u>https://www.niva.no/nyheter/mikroplast-funnet-i-</u> mjosa-og-femunden
- Lusher, A., Hurley, R., Vogelsang, C., Nizzetto, L. & Olsen, M. / NIVA (2017). *Mapping microplastic in sludge*. (NIVA Report/ 7215-2017) <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.25277.56804</u>
- Magnusson, K. & Norén, F. / IVL (2014). Screening of microplastic particles in and downstream a wastewater treatment plant. (IVL Report/ C 55) URL: <u>https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:773505/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>
- Munno, K., Helm, P. A., Jackson, D. A., Rochman, C. & Sims, A. (2018). Impacts of temperature and selected chemical digestion methods on microplastic particles, *Environmental Toxicology Chemistry*, 37(1): 91-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3935</u>
- Murphy, F., Ewins, C., Carbonnier, F. & Quinn, B. (2016). Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) as a Source of Microplastics in the Aquatic Environment, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 50 (11): 5800-5808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b05416</u>
- Nor, N. H., & Obbard, J. P. (2014). Microplastics in Singapore's coastal mangrove ecosystems, *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 79(1-2): 278-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.11.025</u>
- Orhan, Y. & Büyükgüngör, H. (2000). Enhancement of biodegradability of disposable polyethylene in controlled biological soil, *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 45(1-2): 49-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-8305(00)00048-</u> <u>2</u>

- Peez, N., Janiska, MC. & Imhof, W. (2019). The first application of quantitative 1H NMR spectroscopy as a simple and fast method of identification and quantification of microplastic particles (PE, PET, and PS), *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 411(4): 823-833. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-018-1510-z</u>
- Rutala, W. A. (1996). APIC guideline for selection and use of disinfectants, *American Journal of Infection Control*, 24(4): 313-342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-6553(96)90066-8</u>
- Selvakumar, A., Tuccillo, M. E., Muthukrishnan, S. & Ray, A. B. (2009). Use of Fenton's Reagent as a Disinfectant. *Remedation Journal* 19(2): 135-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rem.20208</u>
- Setälä, O., Fleming-Lehtinen, V. & Lehtiniemi, M. (2014). Ingestion and transfer of microplastics in the planktonic food web, *Environmental Pollution*, 185: 77-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.10.013
- Sujathan, S., Kniggendorf, A. K., Kumar, A., Roth, B., Rosenwinkel, A. K. & Nogueira, R. (2017). Heat and Bleach: A Cost-Efficient Method for Extracting Microplastics from Return Activated Sludge, *Archives of Environmental Contamination Toxicology*, 73(4): 641-648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-017-0415-8</u>
- SWECO, (2017). Instruks for prøvetaking på renseanlegg med akkreditert prøvetaking, Norge Region Seljord. (SWECO No: 8) edited by Windt Paul.
- Tagg, A. S., Harrison, J. P., Ju-Nam, Y. K., Sapp, M., Bradley, E. L., Sinclair, C. J. & Ojeda, J. O. (2017). Fenton's reagent for the rapid and efficient isolation of microplastics from wastewater, *Chemical Communications*, 53(2): 372–375.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C6CC08798A</u>
- Xiaowei, L., Lubei, L., Qingqing, M., Dong, B., Xiaohu, D., Guoji D. & Zeng, E. Y. (2018).
   Microplastics in sewage sludge from the wastewater treatment plants in China, Water Reasearch, 142: 75-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.05.034</u>
- Yoo, JH. (2018). Review of Disinfection and Sterilization Back to the Basics, *Infection* and Chemotheraphy, 50(2): 101-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.3947/ic.2018.50.2.101</u>

# 6 Annexes

### Contents

1.	W	astewater Datas	.46
2.	Ra	aw-data of MP observed in 100ml of wastewater per sample s	.48
	2.1	Location 1 inlet and outlet	.48
	2.2	Location 2 inlet and outlet	.52
	2.3	Location 3 inlet and outlet	.55
	2.4	Location 4 inlet and outlets.	.57
3.	Μ	P observed in 10g of sludge samples	.61
	3.1	Location 1s	.62
	3.2	Location 2 s.	.63
	3.3	Location 3	.64
	3.4	Location 4 s.	.65
4.	Са	alculation of location 2 inlet and outlet sample 06s	.66
5.	Lis	st of materials/equipment's and chemicalss	.67
6.	Sl	udge Procedures	.69
7.	W	'astewater procedures.	.72

### 1. Wastewater data

wastewater m3/d	June	July	August	September	October
Location 1	391	584	384	912	325
Location 2	515	469	504	614	469
Location 3	381		606	1077	727
Location 4	949	1132	1074	1056	978

Table 1. The income of water/m3 during 24 hours

Table 2. Total numbers of MP observed and counted before further calculations

Inlet	june	July	August	September	october
Location 4	605	621	713	505	428
Location 2	280	376	311	168	211
Location 3	68		162	234	149
Location 1	482	748	631	460	314
Outlet	june	July	August	September	october
Outlet Location 4	june 477	July 247	August 220	September 204	october 187
Outlet Location 4 Location 2	june 477 212	July 247 96	August 220 75	September 204 92	october 187 92
Outlet Location 4 Location 2 Location 3	june 477 212 41	July 247 96	August 220 75 124	September 204 92 154	october 187 92 133

Table 3. The numbers of MP in 100ml wastewater after calculations of the total number of MPs.

MP/100ml Inlet	June	July	August	September	October
Location 1	1673	2596	2190	1597	1090
Location 2	986	1305	1079	583	732
Location 3	236		562	812	517
Location 4	2100	2155	2475	1753	1486
MP/100ml Outlet	June	July	August	September	October
Location 1	809	1343	528	233	816
Location 2	746	333	260	319	319
Location 3	142		430	535	462
Location 4	1656	857	764	708	649

MP/ 1L Inlet	June	July	August	September	October
Location 1	16793	25962	21901	15966	10899
Location 2	9857	13050	10794	5831	7324
Location 3	2360		5623	8122	5172
Location 4	20999	21554	24747	17528	14855
MP/1L Outlet	June	July	August	September	October
Location 1	8087	13432	5276	2325	8157
Location 2	7462	3332	2603	3193	3193
Location 3	1423		4304	5345	4616
Location 4	16556	8573	7636	7081	6491

Table 4. Numbers of MP in 1L after calculation of MP in 100ml.

Table 5. Total amount of MP types and colours observed in wastewater before calculation.

Total counted MP	White	Blue	Red	Black	Green	Another
	transparent					Colour
Fibres/filaments	187	262	129	533	27	88
Fragments	1625	2359	590	234	1174	389
Beads	3182	1		1		22

# 2. Raw-data of MP observed in 100ml of wastewater per sample.

### 2.1 Location 1 inlet and outlet.

#### Inlet wastewater

Location 1	Inlet06	Inlet07	Inlet08	Inlet09	Inlet10
Filter 1	220	280	158	160	137
Filter 2	262	233	249	179	177
Filter 3		235	224	121	
Tot	482	748	631	460	314

Inlet06-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	4	8		6	1	7
fragments	40	74	16	4	30	11
beads	19					
other						
unknown						41
Inlet06-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	2	18	1	3	8	2
fragments	21	114	24	29	3	16
beads	20					
other						
unknown						51

Inlet07-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	7	18	15	35	2	2
fragments	58	61	24	19	30	
beads	7					
other						
unknown						
Inlet07-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	3	6	3	10		1
fragments	51	58	23	26	34	2
beads	16					
other						
unknown						
Inlet07-3	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	5	7	2	12		
fragments	67	40	21	27	46	
beads	8					
other						
unknown						1

Inlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	2	6	2	5		
fragments	39	39	18	1	27	1
beads	18					
other						
unknown						20
Inlet08-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	2	3	3	2	1	
fragments	30	93	30	3	53	4
beads	24					1
other						
unknown						31
Inlet08-3	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	2	3	3	5	1	3
fragments	14	71	29	4	50	11
beads	28					
other						
unknown						36

Inlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers		2	2	8		1
fragments	18	76	15	4	26	8
beads						
other						
unknown						18
Inlet09-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	1	5	4	9	2	5
fragments	13	87	10		34	6
beads	3					
other						
unknown						13
Inlet09-3	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	3	7	2	9		2
fragments	17	42	8	1	23	4
beads	3					
other						
unknown						8

Inlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers		6		5	2	6
fragments	14	35	8	1	29	9
beads	22					
other						
unknown						10
Inlet10-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	1	5		3		3
fragments	26	53	21		36	8
beads	21					
other						
unknown						11

Outlet wastewater

Location 1	Outlet06	Outlet07	Outlet08	Outlet09	Outlet10
Filter 1	233	387	152	67	235
Tot	233	387	152	67	235

Outlet06-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3		1	5		1
fragments	98	5	11		10	7
beads	91					
other						
unknown						13
Outlet07-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	1		1	8		
fragments	13	2	3	6	10	3
beads	340					
other						
unknown						
outlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers		4		12		1
fragments	21	1		1	5	
beads	103					
other						
unknown						41
Outlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	1	1		4	1	
fragments	43	6		2	2	
beads	7					
other						
unknown						29
Outlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fibers	4		1	12	1	3
fragments	17				13	4
beads	177					3
other						
unknown						15

# 2.2 Location 2 MP observed in 100ml per sample of wastewater.

Inlet wastewater	er
------------------	----

Location 2	Inlet06	Inlet07	Inlet08	Inlet09	Inlet10
Filter 1	284	205	171	105	114
filter 2		171	140	63	97
Tot	284	376	311	168	211

Inlet06	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	5,2	10,3	0,9	7,9	0,5	1,4
fragments	61,9	63,6	8,9	7,5	38,4	19,9
beads	56,9					
other			ĺ			
unknown			Í	1	ĺ	

Inlet07-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	2	2		18		1
fragments	20	80	5	4	33	24
beads	16					
other						
unknown						4

Inlet07-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	4	10	1	5		3
fragments	7	66	4		23	23
beads	25					
other						
unknown						23
Inlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	4	3	2	7		
fragments	9		10		16	13
beads	12				1	
other						
unknown						22
Inlet08-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	7	5		6		
fragments	5	76	10	1	15	10
beads	5					
other						
unknown						6

Inlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	5	6		5		1
fragments	18	37	2	2	13	6
beads	10					
other						
unknown						5
Inlet09-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3			3		
fragments	8	33	3		9	1
beads	3					
other						
unknown						
Inlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
	white/trans	Side			0	•
fiber		4	1	5	1	1
fiber fragments	9	4 41	1 6	5	1 28	1 12
fiber fragments beads	9 6	4	1	5	1 28	1 12
fiber fragments beads other	9 6	4	1 6	5	1 28	1 12
fiber fragments beads other unknown	9 6	4	1	5	1 28	1 12 3
fiber fragments beads other unknown	9	4	1 6	5	1 28	1 12 3
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2	9 6 white/trans	4 41 blue	1 6 	5 black	1 28 green	1 12 3 other
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber	white/trans 2	4 41 5 5 6 5 6 6 7 2	1 6 	5 black 4	green	1 12 3 other 1
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber fragments	white/trans white/trans 2 14	4 41 41 blue 2 48	1 6 	5 black 4	1 28 green 10	1 12 3 other 1 9
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber fragments beads	white/trans 2 14	4 41 5 5 6 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	1 6 	5 black 4	1 28 green 10	1 12 3 other 1 9
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber fragments beads other	white/trans white/trans 2 14 4	4 41 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	1 6 red 1 1	5 black 4	1 28 green 10	1 12 3 other 1 9

### Outlet wastewater

Location 2	Outlet06	Outlet07	Outlet08	Outlet09	Outlet10
tot	215	96	74	92	92

Outlet06	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	5,8	0,3	0,2	3,5	0,1	0,2
fragments	15,1	0,1	2	0,6	0,2	7,4
beads	178,4					
other						
unknown						
0.41.400.4		la la ca		la la alc		- +
Outlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	ріаск	green	otner
fiber	8			6		
fragments	11			2	2	1
beads	45					
other						
unknown						11
Outlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3	2		11		
fragments	7			1		
beads	66					1
other	1					
unknown						1
Outlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	7			8		1
fragments	18	2				1
beads	55					
other						
unknown						

# 2.3 Location 3 MP observed in 100ml per sample of wastewater.

#### Inlet wastewater

Location 3	Inlet06	Inlet08	Inlet09	Inlet10		
Filter 1	68	95	133	149		
Filter 2		67	101			
Tot	68	162	234	149		
Inlet06-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3		2	6	5	
fragments	23	12	3		6	
beads	9	4				
other						
unknown						9
Inlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	2	1	1			
fragments	28	28	6	2	9	
beads	18					
other						
unknown						6
Inlet08-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	1	2	1	3		
fragments	21	24	2		8	2
beads	3					
other						
unknown						13
Inlot00_1	white/trans	hluo	red	hlack	green	other
fiber	white/trans	1	1	6	BICCH	other
fragments	12	51	12	1	20	1
heads	22	51	12	<b>1</b>	20	<del>_</del>
other						
unknown						12
Inlet09-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	1			2	-	
fragments	10	47	7		15	8
beads	11					
other						
unknown						10
Inlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	11	3	6	10	1	1
fragments	9	30	24	4	29	14
beads	7					
other						
unknown						13

#### Outlet wastewater

Location 3	Outlet06	Outlet08	Outlet09	Outlet10
Filter 1	41	124	154	133
Filter 2				
Tot	41	124	154	133

Outlet06-1	white /trans	hluo	red	black	graan	other
fibor	white/trans	blue	ieu	DIACK	green	other
fue encode	2	1		5		
tragments	3	1				
beads	30					2
other						
unknown						4
Outlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3	1		4		
fragments	35	4				
beads	76			1		
other						
unknown						2
Outlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3	1		10		
fragments	7	4		4	2	
beads	123					
other						
unknown						4
Outlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	8	2	1	8		2
fragments	4	4		2		
beads	100					2
other						
unknown						3

## 2.4 Location 4 MP observed in 100ml per sample of wastewater.

### Inlet wastewater

unknown

Location 4	Inlet06	Inlet07	Inlet08	Inlet09	Inlet10	
Filter 1	262	214	226	222	2 19	96
Filter 2	256	225	272	283	3 23	32
Filter 3	87	182	215			
Tot	605	621	713	505	5 42	28
Inlet06-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	2	7	6	19	2	
fragments	93	32	11	17	37	6
beads	30					
other						
unknown						4
Inlet06-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
	1	10	c	12		1
fiber		13	0	15		1
fiber fragments	82	13 35	13	24	36	4
fiber fragments beads	82 29	13 35	13	24	36	4
fiber fragments beads other	82 29	35	13	24	36	4
fiber fragments beads other unknown	82 29	13 35	13 	24	36	4
fiber fragments beads other unknown	82 29	13 35	13	24	36	4
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet06-3	82 29 white/trans	13 35 	red	black	36 green	other
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet06-3 fiber	82 29 white/trans	13 35 	red 2	black 5	36 green	4 other
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet06-3 fiber fragments	82 29 white/trans 5 43	13 35 blue 1 7	red 2	black 5 6	36 green 8	other 1
fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet06-3 fiber fragments beads	82 29 white/trans 5 43 9	13 35 blue 1 7	red 2	black 5	36 green 8	other 1

1

Inlet07-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	12	14	9	13		2
fragments	7	77	20	5	26	11
beads	18					
other						
unknown						18
Inlet07-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	2	5	3	10		3
fragments	22	97	18	1	23	17
beads	24					
other						
unknown						27
Inlet07-3	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	2	4		4		1
fragments	29	56	16	6	37	8
beads	17					
other						
unknown						27
Inlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3	10	) (	6	6	2 1
fragments	57	71	20	0	2	8 7
beads	14	Ļ				1
other						
unknown						8
Inlet08-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber		11	L 9	9 1	8	8
fragments	61	. 103	3 20	0	2 2	3 6
beads	10	)			1	
other						
unknown						
Inlet08-3	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber		7	7		8	3
fragments	32	101	18	8	1 2	4 7
beads	14					
other						
unknown						18

Inlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber		6	8	21	1	4
fragments	30	56	19	2	40	15
beads	20					
other						
unknown						6
Inlet09-2	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	2	3	1	2		
fragments	82	46	15		67	12
beads	53					
other						
unknown						15
	1 /.					
Inlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
Inlet10-1 fiber	white/trans 10	blue 4	red 7	black 8	green	other 1
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments	white/trans 10 11	blue 4 85	red 7 21	black 8	green 29	other 1 10
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads	white/trans 10 11 10	blue 4 85	red 7 21	black 8	green 29	other 1 10
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other	white/trans 10 11 10	blue 4 85	red 7 21	black 8	green 29	other 1 10
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown	white/trans 10 11 10	blue 4 85	red 7 21	black 8	green 29	other 1 10 
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown	white/trans 10 11 10	blue 4 85	red 7 21	black 8	green 29	other 1 10 10 12
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2	white/trans 10 11 10 white/trans	blue 4 85	red 7 21 red	black 8 	green 29 green	other 1 10 10 12 other
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber	white/trans 10 11 10 white/trans	blue 4 85 	red 7 21 red 10	black 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	green 29 green	other 1 10 10 12 other 9
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber fragments	white/trans 10 11 10 white/trans	blue 4 85 	red 7 21 red 10 30	black 8 black 46	green 29 green 33	other 1 10 10 12 0ther 9 9
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber fragments beads	white/trans 10 11 10 white/trans 4 4	blue 4 85 blue 15 72	red 7 21 red 10 30	black 8 black 46	green 29 green 33	other 1 10 10 12 0ther 9 9 9
Inlet10-1 fiber fragments beads other unknown Inlet10-2 fiber fragments beads other	white/trans 10 11 10 white/trans 4 4 4	blue 4 85 	red 7 21 red 10 30	black 8 black 46	green 29 green 33	other 1 10 10 12 0ther 9 9 9

### Outlet wastewater

Location 4	Outlet06	Outlet07	Outlet08	Outlet09	Outlet10	
Filter 1	477	247	220	204	187	
Tot	477	247	220	204	187	
Outlet06-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3			12		1
fragments	18			6		17
beads	420					
other						
unknown						
Outlet07-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	1	1	1	12		2
fragments	10	2		2	11	3
beads	202					
other						
unknown						16
Outlet08-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	1		2	13		1
fragments	16	1		1		1
beads	180	1				
other						
unknown						78
Outlet09-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	3			16		
fragments	20	5			10	2
beads	134					14
other						
unknown						14
Outlet10-1	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
fiber	5			2		
fragments	28	2	2		1	3
beads	144					3
other						
unknown						5

# 3. MP observed in 10g of Sludge samples from each location.

Table 6 Total MP observed in 10-gram wet weight of the subsamples for each location.

Tot mp/ 10g (w.w.)	june	junly	august	September	October
location 4	37	25	16	23	23
location 1	26	12	16	16	10
location 3	20		24	12	19
location 2	18	18	20	17	22

Table 7 Dry and wet measured samples in gram for each month.

Dry weight g	June	July	August	September	October
location 1	1,54	2,52	2,32	2,09	1,97
location 4	2,25	2,53	2,27	2,46	2,52
location 2	2,47	2,32	5,06	2,17	1,99
location 3	2,14		2,51	2,2	2,58
Wet weight	June	July	August	September	October
location 1	10.00g	10.07g	10.01g	10.00g	9.99g
location 4	10.03g	9.99g	10.01g	10.01g	10.01g
location 2	10.00g	10.00g	10.00g	10.00g	10.00g
location 3	10.03g		10.00g	10.00g	10.00g

Table 8 The percentage of dry matter of 10 g wet weighted sludge of each months from each location.

% (d.w) in (w.w)	June	July	August	September	October	Average %
location 1	15	25	23	21	20	21
location 4	22	25	23	25	25	24
location 2	25	23	51	22	20	28
location 3	21		25	22	26	24

3.1 Sludge Location  $\underline{1}$  MP observed in 10g of Sludge samples from each location.

Location 1		june		July		Augus	t	Sept	tember	Octobe	r
Tot MP			26		12		16		16		10
Dry weight	g	1	54		2.52		2.32		2.09		1.97
Vet weight	σ		, 10		, 10,07		10 01		, 10		9 99
Thee mergine	0		10		10,07		10)01			I	5,55
Sludge-061	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green	other	
Fibres		2		4				8			
Fragments		4		1				3			1
Beads		2		1							
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-071	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green	other	
Fibres								/			
Fragments		3						2			
Beads											
Unknown											
Unknown											
Sludge-081		hito/trans	hluo		red		black		green	other	
Fibres	~~		biue	1	ieu		DIACK	10	green	other	
Fragments		5		<b></b>				10			
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-091	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green	other	
Fibres				4				8			1
Fragments		1		1		1					
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-101	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green	other	
Fibres				1				5			
Fragments		3		1							
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											

3.2 Sludge Location  $\underline{2}$  MP observed in 10g of Sludge samples from each location.

Location 2		june		July		Augus	st	Sep	tember	0	ctober
Tot MP			18		18		20		17		22
Dry weight		2	2,47		2,32		5,06		2,17		1,99
Wet weight			, 10		10		10		, 10		10
tree weight	<u> </u>				10		10		10		±0
Sludge-06	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres				2		2		10		1	
Fragments		1		1				1			
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-07	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres				1		2		9		1	
Fragments		1		3				1			
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-08	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres				2		1		10		2	
Fragments		3		1				1			
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-09	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres				1		1		13		1	
Fragments										1	
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
								_			
Sludge-10	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres		2		3		1		14			
Fragments		1									
Beads	<u> </u>	1									
Other	<u> </u>										
Unknown											

3.3 Sludge Location  $\underline{3}$  MP observed in 10g of Sludge samples from each location.

Location 3	june		August		September	October	
Tot MP		20		24	12		19
Dry weight		2,14		2,51	2,2		2,58
Wet weight	10.03g		10.00g		10.00g	10.00g	

Sludge-061	wh	blue	red	black	green	other
Fibres	2			7		
Fragments	7			1	1	
Beads	1					
Other						
Unknown				1		
Sludge-081	wh	blue	red	black	green	other
Fibres			1	11		
Fragments	1	2		1		
Beads	6	1			1	
Other						
Unknown						
Sludge-091	wh	blue	red	black	green	other
Fibres				9		
Fragments	1	1			1	
Beads						
Other						
Unknown						
Sludge-101	white/trans	blue	red	black	green	other
Fibres		2		10	1	
Fragments	3	1				
Beads	1					1
Other						

3.4 Sludge Location  $\underline{4}$  MP observed in 10g of Sludge samples from each location.

Location 4	Location 4 j		june		July		August		September		ctober
Tot MP			37		25		16		23		23
Dry Weight	Dry Weight		2,25		2,53		2,27		2,46		2,52
Wet Weight		10	0,03		9,99		10,01		10,01		10,01
		L'1- /1					lula ale				5 <b>1</b>
Sluage-Ub1	W	nite/trans	blue	10	rea	4	ыаск	10	green	1	other
Fibres	┢		├	10	<b> </b>	4		10		1	
Fragments	┢	0	├		<u> </u>					-	
Othor	┢		├──							_	
Unknown	┢		├──		<u> </u>						
OTIKIOWI			<u> </u>		<u> </u>						
Sludge-071	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres	$\uparrow$	1		3		1		12	0		
Fragments	$\square$			7				1			
Beads											
Other											
Unknown											
Sludge-081	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres				3		1		9			
Fragments		3									
Beads											
Other			Ĺ								
Unknown								14			
Sludge-091	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres			Ĺ			3		18			
Fragments								2			
Beads	L										
Other	L		<b> </b>		<u> </u>						
Unknown	L		<u> </u>		Ļ						
	_										
Sludge-101	w	hite/trans	blue		red		black		green		other
Fibres	╞	3	<b> </b>	3	<u> </u>	1		9			1
Fragments	╞	2			<u> </u>						
Beads	╞	4			<u> </u>						
Other	╞		<b> </b>		<u> </u>						
Unknown		ļ	1	l							

# 4. Calculation of location 2 inlet06

Formula to Calculate MP/100ml and MP types/100ml

Location 2, period June

Inlet 880ml

tot MP counted for the sample = 2502

Outlet 870ml

tot MP counted for the sample = 1880

Tot V= Total Volume for sample

First, I had to calculate the total microplastic per litre;

$$tot mp * \frac{1000ml}{tot V} = MP/L$$

Inlet sample:

$$\frac{mp}{1L} = 2502 * \frac{1000ml}{880ml} = 2843mp/1L$$
$$\frac{mp}{100ml} = 2843 mp * 0.1L = 284mp/100ml$$

Outlet sample:

$$\frac{mp}{1L} = 1880 * \frac{1000ml}{875} = 2157mp/1L$$
$$\frac{mp}{100ml} = 2157mp * 0.1L = 215mp/100ml$$

Inlet MP/100ml = 284

Outlet MP/100ml = 215

Formula of percentage of MP type of 100ml

$$100 * \frac{Tot mp types}{inlet - outlet mp/100ml}$$

# 5. List of Materials/Equipment's and chemicals

Name	Manufacturer	Explanation
Face mask	VWR International	Protect from virus and
		bacteria contained in the
		sludge
Cotton lab coat	FRISTAD AB	Protection clothes
Latex and vinyl gloves	VWR International	Protection for hands
Vacuum funnel top	Millipore <sup>®</sup> Pyrex <sup>®</sup>	Top unit of the vacuum
		filtration where GF/C
		filters filtrated the
		wastewater sample.
250-1000 ml graduated	VWR and Schott DURAN	To making Zncl <sub>2</sub> Solution
beakers		and storing sludge sample
		trough the method.
1L canteen	Norengros	To let sample overflow to
		the canteen.
Metal cans	(Local paint shop in BØ)	Store all the samples from
		the wastewater treatment
		plants.
Aluminium	VWR International	Cover all equipment's as
		lid and covering petri dish
		for storage.
Plastic bottle 5L	Emballator and VWR	For storing distilled water
	International	and filtrated tap water.
Zeiss, Discovery V20	Karl Zeiss	To look for microplastic on
(Stereo microscope)		the filter
Weight measurement (BL	Sartorius	To weight the beakers and
1500S)		the dried sludge

## Materials

Metal spoon	Unknown	Taking subsamples of the		
		sludge with.		
Glass rod	VWR International	Homogenise samples		
Gf/C filters 1,2 μm	VWR International	Separate the liquid from		
		the particles.		
Wash bottle, KJS E500	Unknown	Washing, and flushing		
		beakers and cylinder		
		measurement. To get		
		adhered particles from the		
		glass walls.		
Thermometer	KEBO LAB	To measure the		
		temperature of the		
		evaporation of 70%		
		ethanol.		

### Chemicals

Chemicals	Molecular Formula	Manufacturer
Chemicals		
Hydrogen Peroxide 30%	NaOH (H2O2)	MERCK KGaA
Iron sulphate heptahydrate	FeSO4 * 7H2O	MERCK KGaA
	M= 278.02 g/mol	
Ethanol 70%	C2H5OH	Kemetyl
Zink Chloride	ZnCl <sub>2</sub>	MERCK KGaA

## 6. Sludge Procedure

#### **Pre-treatment**

- 1- Clean the table with ethanol 70%
- 2- Clean beaker, petri dish and all equipment for use with distilled water 3x
- 3- Put 2 petri dish with G/F C filters Air contamination control.
- 4- Weight the glass beaker.
- 5- 10 g sludge wet weight, per sample total 3 subsamples.
- 6- Fenton's reagent.

#### Step A

- Mix thoroughly the melted sludge sample for 1 minute before taking 3 subsamples Collect 3 subsamples, top, middle and bottom of 10 g each wet weight.
- 2- Mix the 30 g of subsamples 1 minute and take out 10 grams to a 250ml precleaned beaker.
- 3- Add 20 ml of ethanol in the subsample of 10 grams and wait 15 minutes.
- 4- Put the beaker with lid on, into a pan with water over a heating plate on maximum 60 °C to evaporate the ethanol. Measure the temperature every 30 minutes, if the temperature increase pour cold water to decrease the temperature.
- 5- Dry the sample in a heating oven with aluminium foil as lid until its dry (maximum 60 °C).
- 6- Weight the dried sludge to get the total dry weight.
- 7- Add 20 ml of 30% H2O2 and 0.0667 g/ 10 ml of (Fe2+) ferrous sulphate.(concentration 6.67mg/ml)
- 8- Wait 2-3 hours to let the Fenton's reagent to work in room temperature.

### **Step B Flotation**

#### Step B1 Tap water

- 1- In the same beaker add filtered tap water (GF/C filtered tap water) to the brim.
- 2- Mix for 30 seconds to make it homogenous, then let it settle for 1 hour.
  1- When the layer has sedimented pour out the tap water to the beaker allowing overflow to the larger vessel.
- 3- Vacuum filter the floated top layer.
- 4- Pour gently out the remaining freshwater till the bottom layer is disturbed then stop.
- 5- Vacuum filter the remains of freshwater in the larger vessel.

#### Step B2 ZnCl<sub>2</sub>

- 2- In the same beaker add concentration of ZnCl<sub>2</sub> (1.8 g/cm3) to 1 cm below the brim. (180g ZnCl<sub>2</sub> / 100 ml distilled H2O)
- 3- Stir it vigorously for 60 s till its homogenous. (stir in 8 numbers)
- 4- Make a big lid of aluminium foil to cover the vessel and the beaker.
- 5- Let the sediment settle for 2 hours placed in a larger vessel.
- 6- Remove the Aluminium foil and any attached particles rinsed back to the beaker.
- 7- Additional Pour ZnCl<sub>2</sub> (1.8 g/cm3) in the beaker allowing overflow to the larger vessel.
- 8- Then rinse any adhered particles from outside of the beaker into the overflow container.
- 9- Vacuum filtrate the overflow liquid.
- 10- Flush GF/C 1.2  $\mu m$  filter with distilled water. (to collect floated particles and remove ZnCl\_2)
- 11- Mix the sample for 15 seconds and Vacuum filtrate.
- 12- Flush GF/C 1.2  $\mu$ m filter with distilled water (to collect floated particles, and remove ZnCl<sub>2</sub>)
- 13- Dry GF/C filters at maximum 60°C before analysis.

### **Step D Visual inspections**

Inspect each filter for a minimum of 5 to 15 minutes starting at the bottom left moving to the right and in direction to the top as figure shows below.



- 1- Use- Digital stereo microscope for visual inspection.
- 2- Take a quick overlook of the filter with 7,6x to 11,5x in magnification.
- 3- Do the same thing and use the magnification range of 11,5x to 150x.
- 4- Follow criteria: colour, shape, and size.

Example of counting table:

	white	Black	Blue	Green	other
Filaments/fibres					
Fragments					
Beads					
Other					
Unknown					

## 7. Wastewater procedure

#### **Pre-treatment:**

- 1- Clean the table with ethanol 70%.
- 2- Clean beaker, petri dish and all equipment for use with distilled water 3x.
- 3- Place 2 petri dishes with GF/C filter for air contamination control.

#### Step A

- 6- Shake the metal pail for 60 seconds with the lid on.
- 7- Take off the lid and stir with a glass pin for 30 seconds.
- 8- Pour 100ml of the homogenous wastewater into 500ml cylindrical beakers with a funnel of glass on the top.
- 9- Measure the volume of wastewater in the cylindrical beaker (100ml).
- 10- Add 200ml of ethanol 70% and wait 15 minutes.
- 11- Mix it before pouring the amount into the vacuum filtration with G/F C filter.
- 12- Wash the remaining content in the cylindrical beaker with distilled water into the vacuum filter (to get adhered particles).
- 13- Then put the GF/C 1.2  $\mu$ m filter in a petri dish with aluminium as lid and bottom, identify: place, date and type.
- 14- Add approximately 7 drops of H2O2 on the filters and store them in the heating oven till it`s dry (The oven temperature should be below or maximum 60°C).
- 15- Look on the digital stereo microscope.
Pre-treatment: The petri dish used for detection of microplastic is treated with a line of 100% cotton to make the diagonal lines easier to follow.



- 1- Take a quick overlook for big microplastic or macroplastic.
- 2- The GF/C filters is analysed through a Digital stereo microscope. (Zeiss, Discovery V20)
- 3- The filter is divided by diagonally lines, where 15 areas of each line is analysed.(2,5mm field of view)
- 4- And 5 (2.5mm field of view) areas in the quadrants shown in the example above.
- 5- Read the first line from right to left, and the other one from the top to the bottom.
- 6- Particles is categorised by type, shape and colour.
- 7- The particles that can't be defined is counted and wrote down in the unknown label in the table of categories.

## Calculation

Total of 50 areas should be analysed to calculate the MPs on the filter.



- 1- Calculate the mm<sup>2</sup> of the field of view by measuring the length and width.
- 2- Measure the diameter of filter area to calculate the total area of the filter

Formula: (Area of a circle is 3.14\*R^2).

$$\frac{MP}{1L} = \frac{tot \ filter \ area}{area \ square \ * \ 50} * MP * 10$$